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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION 

BELOW 

Under RAP 13.4, Joseph Leonard asks this Court 

to review decision of the Court of Appeals State v. 

Leonard, entered August 5. attached as Appendix 1-

23. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The prosecutor tampered with witnesses to 

ensure they identified Mr. Leonard as the perprator. 

This tampering betrays the government's obligation to 

protect all people's rights, including the accused. This 

Court should grant review to address the impact of this 

misconduct on Mr Leonard's fair trial rights and 

because substantial public interest merits review. This 

Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

2. CrR 8.3(b) provides for dismissal of charges 

where government mismanagement prejudices a 

defendant. The State withheld material evidence from 
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Mr. Leonard but disclosed the same evidence to a 

material witness to influence their testimony. The 

prosecutor also delayed its discovery as it amended 

charges several times, forcing Mr. Leonard to choose 

between his constitutional rights to prepared counsel 

ora speedy trial. Did the Court of Appeal incorrectly 

hold that review courts cannot review the issue under 

CrR 8.3(b) if a defendant does not assert a violation of 

the time for trial rule under CrR 3.3? RAP 13.4(b)(3), 

(4). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. A masked man tries to rob a cherry stand. 

A masked man approached two attendants of a 

cherry stand and said: "[g]ive me all your money." 

3/28/22 RP 31. His hand was on his gun by his hip. Id. 

at 33. Suzi Goodwin put her hands up and stepped out 

of his way. 3/24/22 RP 158. Laura Meade said: "Hell 
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no." Id. at 33. But then the man reached and tugged at 

Ms. Meade's fanny pack. Id. at 34. The man and Ms. 

Mead both fell over. Id. The fanny pack remained 

firmly in Ms. Mead's grip. Id. Ms. Goodwin screamed. 

Id. at 35. The masked man panicked, got up, and ran. 

3/24/22 RP 159; 3/28/22 RP 35. The whole incident 

lasted 30 to 40 seconds. 3/28/22 RP 117. 

2. All eyewitnesses say the robber is a 

white man in a white sweatshirt. 

From Ms. Meade's contemporaneous account she 

was certain the man who tried to rob her was a white 

man from his eyes through the black mask; and was 

sure he could not have been Black or Hispanic. 3/28/22 

RP 32, 40, 41. 

Aaron and Jill Horner were in their garage when 

they heard the screams from the cherry stand. 3/28/22 

RP 114-15. Mr. Horner, Ms. Horner and their son 

started towards the stand. From 50 feet away, the 
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masked man pointed his gun at Mr. Horner and he 

instinctively shielded his wife and son. 3/28/22 RP 114-

15. Ms. Horner called police and described the suspect 

as a white man wearing a white hoodie with a black 

mask. Id. She also described the get-away car. 3/28/22 

RP 58. 

3. Mr. Leonard, a Native-American is 

arrested unmasked, wearing a grey 

sweatshirt. 

Police caught up with a car they believed 

matched the description of the get-away car. 3/28/22 

RP 58, 6 1-62. As the police gave chase the car collided 

with another and fell upside down in thick brush. 

3/28/22 RP 68. Police pulled a man in a gray sweatshirt 

from the vehicle, he was not wearing a mask. 3/28/22 

RP 69. The man was later identified as Mr. Leonard. 

He is not white, he is Native American. A bandana 

found some distance from the car was seized as 
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evidence. 3/28/22 RP 79-8 1, 105. Officers found a gun 

four to six feet from the car. 3/28/22 RP 104. 

The State charged Mr. Leonard with one count of 

unlawful possession of a firearm, two counts of 

attempted first degree robbery, and two counts of 

second degree assault. CP 9-12. 

4. The prosecutor influences two 

witnesses to change their testimony to 

match her evidence. 

Ms. Horner's contemporaneous account describes 

the masked man as white and wearing a white 

sweatshirt, dark blue jeans, and a black bandana as a 

face mask. CP 63. Mr. Horner's handwritten statement 

describes the masked man as wearing a white hoodie 

sweatshirt, dark jeans, and a black bandana with 

white flowers. CP 65-66; 11/ 1/21 RP 4. 

Six months later, the prosecutor, Sunni Ko, 

emailed Ms. Horner and attached photographs of the 
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bandana found on the ground some distance from Mr. 

Leonard's car crash and the sweatshirt Mr. Leonard 

was wearing at the time of the car chase, copies of Ms. 

Horner's 911  calls, and her handwritten statements. 

CP 70, 701; 1/1/21 RP 5. Ms. Ko asked: "And do these 

items (sweatshirt and bandana) look familiar? Can you 

please ask your husband?" CP 70; 1/1/21 RP 4-5. 

Ms. Ko told Ms Horner no other eye witness got a 

good look at the masked man. CP 68. Ms. Horner 

waivered, saying she did not get a good look either: 

"everything happened so fast and truthfully all I could 

focus on was the gun lol." CP 68; 1/ 1/21 RP 5. Ms. Ko 

then suggested Ms. Horner could not be sure the 

hoodie was white in light of what Ms. Ko's other 

witnesses said: "In the light, it could very well have 

appeared white. And others described a grey hoodie." 

CP 68; 1/ 1/21 RP 4-5. As a result, Ms. Horner changed 
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her statement: "I thought the hoodie was white, but it 

could've been grey'' and "[t]he bandana is for sure it 

though." CP 69. 

Ms. Ko responded by confirming Ms. Horner's 

testimony would now match her theory of the case: 

"Thank you Jill. This was the sweatshirt that the 

medics cut off of him and nothing else was found inside 

the car." CP 69. Ms. Horner still hedged: "The bandana 

looks correct. That doesn't look like the sweatshirt the 

guy who actually robbed the place was wearing though, 

unless he was wearing it underneath." CP 69. 

After Ms. Ko's influence, Mr. Horner in his 

interview with the defense described the bandana as 

having a "native pattern'' "the Aztec temple style," "like 

blue" or "turquoise color," "some orange," "Seahawks 

emblem," having a "Native American style," or "the 

tribal'' graphics. CP 111-12. Although he had 
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previously described a white sweatshirt, Mr. Horner 

now recalled the sweatshirt was a grey hoodie with a 

Seahawks symbol of "the Native American style." CP 

112. 

Ms. Ko had not bothered to give these two photos 

to defense counsel in discovery. CP 78-81; 11/ 1/21 RP 9. 

\Vb.en defense counsel learned Ms. Ko had discussed 

these photographs with the Horners they asked her to 

provide that same evidence to the defense. Id. Ms. Ko 

refused. Mr. Leonard moved to dismiss under CrR 

8.3(b). 10/20/21 RP 9. 

After filing his motion, Mr. Leonard asked to 

interview the prosecutor to substantiate Ms. Ko's 

tampering with the eyewitness identification. 10/20/21  

RP 11. Ms. Ko's testimony was critical and material 

impeachment evidence. Id. at 9. 

The court was convinced Ms. Ko had improperly 

8 



revealed evidence and information to a witness. 

10/20/21  RP 14. Ms. Ko vehemently denied contacting 

Mr. Horner but readily admitted she spoke several 

times over the phone with Ms. Horner. Id. at 15. 

Minimizing her actions, Ms. Ko claimed she only spoke 

with Ms. Horner to discuss her availability for an 

interview "and the substance of the descriptions of the 

bandanna and the sweatshirt." Id. at 15. 

The prosecutor insisted the court could "remedy'' 

the issue by simply precluding the parties from. 

eliciting evidence of descriptions of the bandana or the 

sweatshirt. Id. at 17. Ms. Ko argued she could be 

disqualified only if the court could find no other 

impeachment method or alternative method of cross­

exam.ining. Id. at 18. She suggested the defense could 

introduce the em.ail communication to impeach both 

witnesses. Id. Ms. Ko insisted that evidence about how 
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she "altered" and "supplanted" these witnesses' 

memories was obtainable through the emails 

themselves; Ms. Ko's actual testimony could only 

authenticate the emails and had no additional 

evidentiary value. Id. at 19. 

The court noted that after communicating with 

Ms. Ko, Ms. Horner's description of the robber had 

evolved from a person wearing a white hoodie to one 

wearing a gray hoodie: a description matching the 

photographs Ms. Ko had given her. Id. at 17. 

The court denied Mr. Leonard's motion to 

disqualify Ms. Ko. CP 5 1-52. The court "remedied" the 

evidentiary issue by saying: "Evidence that the 

Horners were provided with photographs, however, is 

obtainable through the witnesses and, if necessary to 

impeach or refresh recollection, is available through 

the email correspondence between the deputy 
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prosecuting attorney and the witnesses." CP 51. The 

court also held that Ms. Ko's emails to Horner was 

"prejudicial" to the State. CP 5 1-52. The court allowed 

the defense to introduce the email chain to discredit 

the witness' descriptions. Id. at 21; CP 51. 

Mr. Leonard also asked the court to dismiss all 

counts except the unlawful possession of a firearm 

under CrR 8.3(b) due to Ms. Ko's tampering with the 

eye witnesses identifications. CP 57, 61. Mr. Leonard 

argued Ms. Ko had influenced the Horner's to change 

their testimony to match Ms. Ko's theory of the case. 

CP 57. 

After Ms. Ko spoke to her, Ms. Horner changed 

her statements. She testified at trial, describing the 

bandana as black with some white flowers. CP 137. 

Although she had twice described it as white, she said 

"now you start like rethinking everything'' because the 
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masked man was "probably like Native American or 

Mexican." CP 138. She recounted that the mask she 

saw was 100% the picture of the mask Ms. Ko showed 

her before trial. CP 140. 

Defense counsel knew that the prosecution had 

shared evidence with Ms. Horner. But the prosecutor 

had never provided that evidence to the defense. CP 

140. 

Ms. Ko she said she communicated with Ms. 

Horner through a chain of emails and showed her 

photographs and discussed the prosecutor's evidence in 

follow-up phone conversations. CP 78-81; 11/ 1/21 RP 9. 

Indeed, the prosecutor in her email had asked Ms. 

Horner to make sure her testimony and that of her 

husband matched the photographs in the prosecutor's 

evidence. CP 78-81; 11/ 1/21 RP 9. The prosecutor 

readily conceded it was improper to communicate to 
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Ms. Horner by email and several phone conversations 

to discuss the sweatshirt cut of from Mr. Leonard. 

11/ 1/21 RP 9 . 

. She insisted showing Ms. Horner the 

photographs was not improper. CP 82. 

The court denied Mr. Leonard's motion to dismiss 

for prosecutorial misconduct without explanation. CP 

231-32. 

5. The prosecutor also hampers defense 

preparation by withholding evidence, 

and providing discovery late and 

piecemeal, forcing the court to vacate 

trial dates. 

Mr. Leonard also requested the court to dismiss 

the case under CrR 8.3(b) and CrR 4. 7 because the 

prosecutor mismanaged the case by withholding 

discovery and continually providing late discovery in 

piecemeal fashion. CP 162-172. 

Because Mr. Leonard was in jail, his speedy trial 
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deadline was 60 days after this date, or August 30, 

2020. CrR 3.3(b)(l)(i), (c)(l). Mr. Leonard was 

arraigned for possession of a firearm charge on June 

29, 2020. The day after he was arraigned, Mr. Leonard 

requested discovery from the prosecutor. CP 162. A 

month passed and the prosecution turned over about 

92 pages as evidence to the defense. CP 162. 

After interviewing Ms. Horner, the defense 

realized that the prosecutor was withholding several 

pages of material and potentially exculpatory 

photographs. Id. at 26. Some photographs showed that 

when the car overturned all items inside were thrown 

all around the crash scene; but others photos showed 

these same items back inside the car. Id. at 26. The 

last receipts of these photos required follow-up 

interviews with the tow driver and the officers to 

determine where the gun and other evidence were 
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initially collected viz a viz the occupants of the car. Id. 

at 26. The prosecutor's actions in withholding evidence, 

delayed Leonard's trial preparation time by ten 

months. Id. at 26-27. 

After the State filed an amended information to 

include two counts of attempted robbery, they provided 

the defense with additional discovery. CP 163. 

However, the discovery the prosecutor turned over was 

from a completely different prosecution of a different 

person. CP 163. 

The prosecutor promised the court it would 

provide Mr. Leonard with a list of witnesses by March 

2021, nine months after his arraignment. CP 163. 

However, the prosecutor did not turn over this list for 

nearly double that length of time - 16 months. CP 163; 

11/ 1/21 RP 44. 

The day before trial, the defense moved to 
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suppress certain belately disclosed evidence withheld 

in violation of the court's discovery order. 3/24/22 RP 

11. Ms. Ko, an experienced prosecutor, claimed her 

failure to comply with the court rules and deadlines 

was "inadvertent." 3/24/22 RP 14-15. 

Similarly, Ms. Ko promised to provide video and 

photographs of the crash scene to the defense as 

required by CrR 4.7. 11/ 1/21 RP 29. However, the 

prosecutor provided only seven additional photographs. 

CP 163. When it became clear, there was some missing 

evidence, Ms. Ko blamed this failure on her legal 

assistant. 11/ 1/21 RP 29-30. 

Ms. Ko waited seven months to share with 

defense counsel the photos she had shown Ms. Horner. 

CP 8 1. 

At an omnibus hearing, Ms. Ko assured the court 

she had provided all discovery to the defense. CP 163. 
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When that turned out to be false, Ms. Ko said she 

mistakenly believed all discovery had been turned over 

to the defense but her legal assistant was to blame if 

some evidence had not been turned over. Id. at 30. Ms. 

Ko responded by faulting the defense for having 

mistakenly believed the prosecutor complied with her 

obligation to provide all the discovery and not advising 

the prosecution it needed additional materials earlier. 

Id. at 30. 

The next month, Ms. Ko turned over new 

discovery on two additional dates. CP 163. And based 

on the newly disclosed evidence Mr. Leonard 

interviewed Mr. and Ms. Horner. CP 103-117; 124-151. 

The Court continued the trial date. CP 163. 

Again the next month, the prosecutor turned over 

even more discovery. CP 164. 

Then two months later, the prosecutor amended 
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the charges to include two counts of assault. CP 164. 

And then finally prosecutor provided the defense with 

the chain of emails in which she urged Ms. Horner and 

her husband to ensure their recollection matched the 

State's evidence. CP 164. 

Five months later, Mr. Leonard realized Ms. Ko 

was withholding additional photographs from the 

scene of the crash. CP 177 -78. This time Ms. Ko blamed 

the Buckley Police Depart1nent for not releasing those 

photographs to the defense. 11/ 1/21 RP 44. 

On the day set for trial, the prosecutor claimed 

she became aware she had not turned over all the 

evidence. 11/ 1/21 RP 31. Only then did she share two 

folders of documents. Id. at 30-31. But then the 

prosecutor again realized there were two additional 

folders of files which she had not provided. Id. at 30-31. 

Ms. Ko claimed she had no way of knowing what 
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discovery had been turned over. She promised to turn 

over these two additional folders. Id. at 31-32. 

The court refused to find Ms. Ko "misbehaved" 

and instead chalked it up as a "breakdown in 

communication'' between the prosecutor and her legal 

assistant. CP 232. The court orally chastised Ms. Ko for 

blaming the defense for her failure to turn over 

evidence as it was the prosecutor's obligation to turn 

over all the evidence. 11/ 1/21 RP 44. However, offering 

no reasoning, the court denied Mr. Leonard's motion to 

dismiss for governmental mismanagement. CP 232. 

The court on its own continued trial to allow the 

defense to review the newly disclosed evidence. Id. at 

45-46. 

6. Ms. Horner refuses to testify despite 

subpeona. Mr. Leonard cannot 

impeach her to establish Ms. Ko's 

efforts to change evidence. 

After the trial was reset, the prosecutor informed 
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the court that although Ms. Horner was subpoenaed, 

she refused to testify and was refusing to receive calls 

from the prosecutor. 3/28/22 RP 7. The prosecutor told 

the Court Ms. Horner was refusing to testify because 

she feared "retaliation" from Mr. Leonard. 3/28/22 RP 

8. 

Ms. Ko said she would not seek a material 

witness warrant to compel Ms. Horner to testify. 

3/28/22 RP 7. Mr. Leonard argued it was problematic 

because the prosecution referenced Ms. Horner's 911  

call but she was refusing to testify. Id. at 9. Her 

testimony and her 911  call was crucial to the defense 

because she reported the masked man was a white 

male in a white hoodie. Id. at 10. Her handwritten 

statement refered to a "white hoodie" but the hoodie in 

evidence was not white. Id. at 10. Mr. Leonard asked 

the court to require Ms. Horner to testify even by a 
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material witness warrant. Id. at 10. Mr. Leonard 

requested a mistrial if Ms. Horner could not testify, 

because it changed the defense strategy including the 

motions in limine, opening statements, and how to 

defend the case. Id. at 11. 

The prosecutor opposed the material witness 

warrant and countered that the defense would gain 

nothing from Ms. Horner's testimony and cross­

examination because her entire testimony was in the 

911  calls. Id. at 13. If Mr. Leonard wanted her to 

testify for the defense he could call her as a witness by 

requesting the material witness warrant. Id. at 13, 19. 

The prosecution introduced Ms. Horner's 911  call 

into evidence after Mr. Horner authenticated her voice. 

Id. The prosecutor played the 911  call and asked the 

jury to read along. Id. at 129. 

Mr. Horner testified for the State. 3/28/22 RP 
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109-35. Mr. Horner testified he was inside his garage 

when they heard screams from the cherry stand. Id. at 

110. He and his wife ran towards the cherry stand. Id. 

at 110. A masked man run down the sidewalk in front 

of their house. Id. at 111. The masked man briefly 

pointed his gun at Mr. Horner from 50 feet away, and 

his wife and son were some distance behind him. 

3/28/22 RP 114, 115. The masked man drove off in a 

vehicle. Id. at 116. 

Mr. Horner was allowed to testify generally that 

he gave police the description of the masked man and 

what he was wearing and his physical appearance 

providing no details he gave: 

Q: Did you describe the type of clothing he 

was wearing? 
A. I did, yes. 

Q. Did you give a description of the face 

covering he may have had? 

A. Yes. 

3/28/22 RP 128. 
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7. Mr. Leonard's only in-court 

identification is unreliable. 

Despite having previously identified the robber as 

a white man, at trial Ms. Mead identified Mr. Leonard, 

the dark complected Native American, as the person 

she saw. 3/28/22 RP 38. Ms. Mead tried to explain her 

conflicting statements, "Like I said, all I could see was 

his eyes." 3/28/22 RP 38. 

8. The prosecutor makes improper 

arguments. 

During closing argument, Ms. Ko argued Mr. 

Leonard's flight showed he knew he was guilty. 3/29/22 

RP 76. Mr. Leonard objected that the prosecutor's 

argument was improper as it imputed thoughts to him 

based on facts not in evidence. 3/29/22 RP 77; CP 208-

09. The State had presented no facts in evidence about 

what Mr. Leonard knew or thought. Id. 

The prosecutor countered that the State could 
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draw inferences of Mr. Leonard's "guilty knowledge" 

because he was fleeing from the area. Id. at 78. The 

court warned that the prosecutor had been "walking a 

little bit of a [fine] line," but still overruled Mr. 

Leonard's objection and held that consciousness of guilt 

was a reasonable inference for the prosecutor to draw 

for the jury. Id. 

Following trial, a jury found Mr. Leonard guilty 

of all five counts. 3/30/22 RP 7 -8. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 

GRANTED 

1. The Court should grant review because 

the State concedes the prosecutor 

tampered with eyewitnesses to urge them 

to change their description of the 

perpetrator in a case that rests on this 

identification testimony. 

This case turned on proving the identity of a 

masked robber. At the scene, eye witnesses saw a 

white man in a white sweatshirt. Mr. Leonard is dark-
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complected Native-American and he was wearing a 

grey sweatshirt. "[M]istaken eyewitness identification 

is a leading cause of wrongful conviction." State v. 

Derri, 199 Wn. 2d 658, 662, 511  P.3d 1267(2022) citing 

State v. Rio/ta, 166 Wn.2d 358, 371, 209 P.3d 467 

(2009)(internal citation ommitted.). 

At least eight Washingtonians have been 

exonerated after being convicted, in part, based on 

mistaken eyewitness evidence, but the number of 

people wrongly convicted on this basis is likely much 

higher. Derri, 199 Wn. 2d at 662. In particular, we now 

know that cross-racial identifications can be 

particularly unreliable-studies show that rates of 

error in making identifications are much higher when 

a person is asked to identify someone of another race. 

Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 675. 
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The Derri court explained how a witness memory 

can be shaped by improper tactics that "severely 

compromise" the accuracy of the eye witness 

identification by artificially inflating a witness' 

certainty in their identification. Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 

688.Mr. Leonard pointed out that Ms. Ko, the 

representative of Pierce County, tampered with 

witnesses to secure a conviction against Mr. Leonard. 

The State readily conceded that Ms. Ko's 

communication with these witnesses was improper 

and amounted to misconduct. It conceded Ms. Ko 

"communicated" with witnesses to change their 

memory of the sweatshirt but minimized the 

impropriety as not egregious. Br. of Resp. at 26. The 

State claimed the trial court cured any prejudice by 

excluded compromised evidence on the sweatshirt. Id. 
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at 28. This was a tacit concession that Ms. Ko's conduct 

prejudiced Mr. Leonard's right to a fair trial. 

Ms. Ko's cynical manipulation of eyewitness 

testimony went to the heart of the case against Mr. 

Leonard. The prosecutor severely compromised the eye­

witness identification to secure a conviction .. Ms. Ko's 

improper tactics are of the same species decried in 

Derri as leading causes of false identification. 

Ms. Ko's tampering curtailed his right to confront 

and cross-examine two adverse witnesses. U.S. Const. 

amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; State v. Darden, 145 

Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). It precluded Mr. 

Leonard from presenting substantive evidence and 

impeachment evidence from two key witnesses. Br. of 

Appellant at 34. Ms. Ko told the jury what her 

testimony would be in closing argument. But Ms. 

Horner did not testify and Mr. Leonard could neither 
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show that her initial description did not match Mr. 

Leonard, that she continued to say Mr. Leonard was 

not wearing the sweatshirt the perpetrator wore, and 

that Ms Ko urged her to change her testimony. 

Such underhanded tactics raise serious concerns 

about the fairness of the entire proceeding against Mr. 

Leonard. 

The court of appeals minimized Ms. Ko's conduct 

as "improperly" discussing the content of those 

witnesses' testimony prior to trial. App. 1. 

It has been thoughtfully observed that if 

prosecutors are permitted to convict guilty defendants 

by improper, unfair means, then we are but a moment 

away from the time when prosecutors will convict 

innocent defendants by similar unfair means. State v. 

Torres, 16 Wn.App. 254, 263, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976). 
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The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b) 

and hold that a prosecutor tampering with witnesses to 

alter eyewitness identification testimony and secure a 

conviction in antithetical to a fair trial. 

2. The Court of Appeals glosses over 

egregious mismanagement and read 

CrR 8.3(b) out of existence by stating 

dismissal is not required by Cr R 8.3(b) 

unless there is a speedy trial violation 

under CrR 3.3. 

It has been thoughtfully observed that if 

prosecutors are permitted to convict guilty defendants 

by improper, unfair means, then we are but a moment 

away from the time when prosecutors will convict 

innocent defendants by similar unfair means. State v. 

Torres, 16 Wn.App. 254, 263, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976). 

Turning over evidence to witnesses and 

withholding it from defendants is unfair. So is delaying 

discovery for 16 months. Review is appropriate because 

viewed in the broader context of other government's 
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mismanagement in this case, the tampering was just 

but one of many unfair means the prosecutor used to 

secure a conviction against Mr. Leonard. 

Dismissal is appropriate under CrR 8.3(b) "due to 

arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when 

there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused 

which materially affect the accused's right to a fair 

trial." The government's conduct "need not be of an evil 

or dishonest nature; simple mismanagement is 

sufficient." State v .  Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239, 937 

P.2d 587 (1997). 

For dismissal under this rule, the defendant must 

show (1) arbitrary action or governmental misconduct 

and (2) prejudice affecting the defendant's right to a 

fair trial. State v . Brooks, 149 Wn. App. 373, 384, 203 

P.3d 397 (2009). 
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Under CrR 8.3(b)'s "lenient" standard, "belatedly 

disclosed material information" is enough to show 

mismanagement. State v. Salgado-Mendoza, 189 

Wn.2d 420, 434, 403 P.3d 45 (2017). 

Dismissal is appropriate from prejudicial 

mismanagement, including unnecessary trial delay 

caused by late discoveryState v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 

at 239-240,. "Such prejudice includes the right to a 

speedy trial and the 'right to be represented by counsel 

who has had sufficient opportunity to adequately 

prepare a material part of his defense."' Id. (quoting 

State v. Price, 94 Wn.2d 810, 8 14, 620 P.2d 994 (1980)). 

Mr. Leonard requested the court to dismiss the 

entire case under CrR 8.3(b) and CrR 4. 7 because the 

prosecutor mismanaged the case by withholding 

discovery and continually providing late discovery in 

piecemeal fashion. CP 162-172. Even setting aside the 
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tampering with witnesses, the prosecutor frequently 

amended charges, provided piecemeal discovery, 

engaged in dilatory turning over evidence, and turned 

over evidence to witnesses but not to Mr. Leonard, and 

this forced Mr. Leonard to forsake his speedy trial 

right so his counsel could be prepared. 11/ 1/21 RP 33-

35. 

The Court of Appeals declared that Mr. Leonard 

was not entitled to dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) because 

he was not entitled to dismissal under the speedy trial 

rule, CrR 3.3. App. 15. The State did not make this 

argument on appeal. The Court of Appeals decision 

improperly reads CrR 8.3(b) out of existence. Like 

statutes, court rules must not be read to be 

superfluous. State v. George, 160 Wn.2d 727, 735, 738-

39, 158 P.3d 1169 (2007). 
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The Court of Appeals reasoned that this case 

could not be dismissed under CrR 8.3(b), because Mr. 

Leonard made repeated references to his right to a 

"speedy trial so his counsel could be prepared" and a 

generic "right to a fair trial," without anywhere 

explicating how CrR 3.3 the speedy trial rule was 

violated. App. 15. The opinion faults Mr. Leonard for 

not asserting a outright violation of his right to speedy 

trial. Id. 

But Mr. Leonard does not seek dismissal "for 

time-to-trial reasons." He seeks dismissal under CrR 

8.3(b), not CrR 3.3(h), because several unfair tactics by 

the prosecutor that Mr. Leonard identifies-tampering 

with witnesses, frequently amending charges, 

providing piecemeal discovery, delays in turning over 

evidence, turning over evidence to witnesses but not to 

Mr. Leonard, forced Mr. Leonard to forsake his speedy 
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trial right so his counsel could be prepared. 11/ 1/21 RP 

33-35. At several junctures Mr. Leonard could not go to 

trial because Ms. Ko intentionally withheld evidence or 

that Ms. Ko turned over evidence so late and in 

piecemeal fashion, that it hampered Mr. Leonard's trial 

preparations. 

Mr. Leonard was forced to forsake his speedy 

trial right to enable his counsel to prepare for trial. 

11/ 1/21 RP 33-35. Being forced to waive your speedy 

trial right is not a "trivial event." Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 

at 245. 

Here, the Court of Appeals refused to weigh the 

16 months of delay in turning over evidence. The Court 

of Appeals overlooked how Ms. Ko's abuse and 

mismanagement of the discovery process forced Mr. 

Leonard to forsake his speedy trial right so his counsel 

could be prepared. 11/ 1/21 RP 33-35. That is sufficient 

34 



prejudice to support dismissal under CrR 8.3(b). 

Michielli, 132 Wn.2d at 239-40. Dismissal is the only 

sufficient remedy for the egregious violation that 

occurred here. 

The underlying purpose of CrR 8.3(b) is fairness 

to the defendant. State v Stephans, 4 7 Wn. App. 600, 

603, 736 P.2d 302 (1987). The court should revitalize 

CrR 8.3(b) and instruct prosecutors and our courts that 

at a minimum accused persons must be treated fairly 

and this Court will not condone such underhanded 

tactics by prosecutors. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Leonard respectfully requests this Court to 

accept review and reverse for prosecutorial misconduct 

and government mismanagement of his case. RAP 

13.4(b)(l) (3), (4). 
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4, 742 words. 
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D IVIS ION ONE  

U N P U BL ISHED OP IN ION 

DiAZ , J .  - Joseph Isa iah Leonard appeals h is convict ion for attempt ing to 

rob a cherry stand with a fi rearm and assau lt ing witnesses to the crime .  He argues 

the State violated h is constitutiona l  rig ht to confront two key witnesses , when it 

adm itted ly " improperly" d iscussed the content of those witnesses' test imony prior 

to tria l .  Leonard add it iona l ly argues that the tria l  cou rt erred by fa i l i ng  to d ism iss 

the charges aga inst h im after the State m ishand led d iscovery,  and by al lowing the 

State to make an improper statement in its clos ing argument .  We d isag ree , affi rm 

the conviction ,  but remand to stri ke h is Vict im Pena lty Assessment (VPA) . 

I .  BACKGROU N D  

The parties d o  not d ispute that the fo l lowing facts occu rred , as Leonard 

cla ims that th is matter is a case of m istaken identity .  On June 27 ,  2020 ,  a man 

with a face coveri ng and dark bandana approached a cherry stand in  Buckley, and 
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ordered the attendants to give him their money. Both of the attendants, Suzi 

Goodwin and Laura Meade, saw the assailant with his hands on a firearm .  

Goodwin put her hands up and stepped away. Meade said, "[h]ell no." The man 

tugged Meade's fanny pack, which they then tussled over. Goodwin screamed. 

The man ran away. 

Aaron and Ji l l ian Horner were a married couple who lived near the fruit 

stand. When they heard screaming, Mr. and Ms. Horner and their young son ran 

towards the noise. Mr. Horner saw a man run near their house and toward a 

parked car. The man pointed a gun at the Homers from approximately 50 feet 

away, with Mr. Horner standing in front of Ms. Horner and their son. Mr. Horner 

saw the gunman get into the passenger side of a "l ight-teal-green Dodge Stratus." 

The Horne rs' other contemporaneous observations will be described in more detail 

below. 

The Stratus traveled at speeds exceeding 1 00 mi les per hour as a police 

vehicle pursued it for approximately four to five miles. The Stratus collided with 

another car and then ro lled off the road. Law enforcement arrested a man who 

exited the passenger side, with dark hair, wearing a grey sweatshirt, and identified 

him as Leonard. At the scene, law enforcement found a firearm . Law enforcement 

also found a bandana nearby that was "a black and white piece of cloth with white 

filigree and teal, orange, red, black, and white markings in the middle." 

The State charged Leonard with two counts of attempted robbery in the first 

degree, two counts of assault in  the second degree, and one count of un lawful 

possession of a firearm . As we will discuss in more detail later, before his trial 
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began , Leonard brought mu lt ip le motions re lated to the State's a l leged 

prosecutor ial m isconduct ,  both for its contact with the Homers and for provid ing 

i ncomp lete or d i latory d iscovery.  The tria l  cou rt den ied Leonard 's  various motions 

and ordered alternate remed ies which wi l l  be d iscussed below. 

A. 

At tria l ,  the j u ry found Leonard gu i lty on a l l  counts . Leonard appeals . 

I I .  ANALYS I S  

Leonard 's  S ixth Amendment Right to Cross-Examine the State's Witnesses 

1 .  Add it ional Factual and Procedu ral  Background 

On the same date of the robbery,  the Homers each gave handwritten 

statements describ ing the i r  assa i lant .  Ms .  Horner described "a h ispan ic [s ic] male 

weari ng a white sweatsh i rt ,  dark b lue jeans and a b lack bandana as a face mask . "  

(Emphasis added) .  Meanwh i le ,  M r. Horner described a man with a "dark 

comp lexion , weari ng a b lack bandana with wh ite flowers on it .  He had dark jeans 

and a white hood ie . "  (Emphasis added) .  

Approximate ly s ix  months later ,  between December 14  and  1 5 , 2020 , 

State's counsel had the fo l lowing emai l  exchange with Ms .  Horner :  

State : I hope you remember me ;  we spoke few weeks ago about that 
robbery you and you r  husband witnessed . I found the handwritten 
statements you and you r  husband d rafted , and am hop ing you can 
refresh you r  memory. Also I 've attached the 9 1 1 ca l l  you made. Can 
you review for accu racy? And do these items (sweatsh i rt and 
bandana) look fam i l iar? 1 Can you please ask your husband? Thank 
you !  

Ms .  Horner :  The bandana defin ite ly looks correct . That doesn't look 
like the sweatsh i rt the guy who actual ly robbed the p lace was 
weari ng though ,  u n less he was weari ng it u nderneath . That possibly 

1 The emai l  attached an aud io fi le of the 9 1 1 ca l l  and photos of the items in  
question . 

3 
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cou ld 've been the d rivers [s ic] , he never left the veh icle so we never 
got a good look at h im .  

State : Thank you ,  [Ms .  Horner] .  This was the sweatshirt that the 
medics cut off of him and noth ing else was found i ns ide the car. The 
d river was weari ng a b lue/b lack sh i rt .  

Ms .  Horner :  I thought the hoodie was white, but it  could've been grey. 
Or they d itched it when they were runn ing before pol ice were actua l ly 
chas ing them . The bandana is for su re it though .  

State : I n  the l i ght ,  it could very well have appeared white . And others 
described a grey hoodie . So we 're good. Thank  you !  

(Emphasis added) .  

Ms .  Horner then responded : "true ,  everyth ing happened so  fast and 

truthfu l ly a l l  I cou ld focus on was the gun lo l . "  The two contin ued to correspond 

about where the assa i lant parked h is car, etc . 

I n  March 202 1 , law enforcement i nterviewed the Homers ,  separate ly. M r. 

Horner described a "b lack mask" with a "wh ite pattern on it . . . looked l i ke the 

bandanas . . .  it had a native pattern on it . "  He described a "g rey hood ie" with a 

"Seahawk symbol on the front of it ,  the Native American style . "  Ms .  Horner stated 

"he had a b lack bandana with l i ke wh ite . . .  flowers from a d istance . . .  jeans and 

a long hood ie and a mask, l i ke you know, a bandana . . .  " She d id not describe 

the co lor of h is sweatsh i rt .  

In November 202 1 , Leonard moved to d ism iss the charges aga inst h im 

(except for the charge of un lawfu l possess ion of a fi rearm) under  CrR 8 . 3(b) based 

on the State's conversat ion with Ms .  Horner .  2 Specifica l ly ,  Leonard asserted that 

2 Prior to that motion , Leonard had moved to d isqual ify the prosecutor for emai l i ng 
Ms .  Horner because "the i ntent was to sway the test imony . . . of  the suspect 
weari ng a wh ite hood ie . . .  to a g ray hood ie . "  And , i n  so do ing , Leonard cla ims 

4 
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the State "tamper[ed]" with the Homers' testimony, argu ing "we have a witness 

who orig ina l ly described a wh ite sweatsh i rt ,  effectively be ing coached to change 

test imony to that of a g ray sweatsh i rt - here ,  one with a Seahawks logo . "  At no 

t ime d id Leonard argue h is constitut ional rig hts were violated . 

At the hearing , the State conceded its commun ications with Ms .  Horner 

were " improper. " The State fu rther conceded that M r. Horner was l i ke ly privy to 

the emai l  correspondence between it and Ms .  Horner ,  thus potentia l ly ta i nt ing h is 

test imony too . However, the State argued the court shou ld consider ava i lable 

i ntermed iate remed ies short of d ism iss ing the charges . The State offered not to 

e l icit i n-court identificat ion of the sweatsh i rt or bandana from the Homers .  I nstead , 

it wou ld i ntrod uce on ly the orig ina l  ( i naccu rate) statements the Homers made to 

law enforcement on the day of the incident ,  and not offer the (accu rate) statement 

i n  M r. Homer's subsequently recorded i nterview. 

The court den ied Leonard 's  motion to d ism iss . The court noted that "the 

d ifficu lty with th is motion is the encouragement to d raw a d ifferent concl us ion than 

what was concluded at the scene .  I t 's  not improper to refresh .  I t  i s  improper to 

encourage . "  The court concluded "there needs to be some sort of remedy 

fash ioned . . . the remedy that's been proposed is one that I 'm  go ing to order ,  

she "made herself a mater ial witness and is th us no longer qua l ified to act as an 
advocate" per RPC 3 .7(a) . The tria l  cou rt ,  though express ing concern about the 
State's conduct ,  den ied Leonard 's  mot ion to d isqual ify because " I don 't th i nk  it rises 
to the leve l u nder the analys is that the Cou rt has to have . . .  to requ i re that [the 
State] be removed from the case . I do bel ieve that the remedy is that the text 
messages themselves, i n  whatever format is determ ined at tria l  would be 
admissible , and it wou ld be on the fou r  corners of those text messages . "  
(Emphasis added) .  

5 
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which is ,  essentia l ly ,  the State is stuck with the description that the Homers 

provided at the scene to the officers. "  (Emphasis added) .  The court fu rther 

ordered that ,  if Leonard wanted to impeach either of the Homers ,  he cou ld 

i ntrod uce the emai l  correspondence between them and the State . 

2 .  Law 

"The rig ht to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses is guaranteed 

by both the federal  and state constitutions . "  State v .  Darden , 1 45 Wn .2d 6 1 2 ,  620 , 

4 1  P . 3d 1 1 89 (2002) (quoti ng U . S .  CONST. amend 6 ;  CONST. art .  I ,  § 22) . "The 

pr imary and most important component is the rig ht to conduct a mean i ngfu l  cross­

examinat ion of adverse witnesses . "  kl "The pu rpose is to test the perception ,  

memory, and  cred ib i l ity of  witnesses . "  kl "Whenever the  rig ht to confront i s  

den ied , the  u lt imate integ rity of th is fact-fi nd ing process is ca l led i nto question . . .  

[a]s such , the rig ht to confront must be zea lously guarded . "  kl "However, the rig ht 

to cross-examine adverse witnesses is not abso lute . "  I d .  

Namely ,  a lthough i n  a d ifferent context , 3 our  Supreme Cou rt has held that 

" [t] he S ixth Amendment to the U n ited States Constitution guarantees a defendant 

a fa i r  tria l  but not a tria l  free from error . " State v .  F isher, 1 65 Wn .2d 727 , 746-47 ,  

202 P . 3d 937 (2009) . "The bu rden rests on the defendant to show the prosecuting 

attorney's conduct was both improper and prejud icia l . "  kl at 747 ;  see also Br .  of 

Appel lant at 3 1  (citi ng State v. Dha l iwal ,  1 50 Wn .2d 559 , 578 , 79 P . 3d 432 (2003)) . 

"Once proved , p rosecutoria l  m iscond uct is g rounds for reversal where there is a 

3 Leonard 's  open ing brief provides a cu rsory and undeveloped presentat ion of h is 
somewhat novel confrontat ion-clause-via-m isconduct argument, but he offers the 
same forego ing and fo l lowing legal p rinc ip les . 
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substant ial l i ke l i hood the improper conduct affected the j u ry . "  F isher, 1 65 Wn .2d 

at 747 ;  see a lso Br .  of Appel lant at 3 1 -32 (cit ing State v .  Lucas-Vicente , 22 Wn . 

App .  2d 2 1 2 , 223-24 , 5 1 0 P . 3d 1 006 (2022)) . We review an al leged den ia l  of such 

constitutiona l  rig hts de novo . State v. Lizarraga , 1 9 1 Wn . App .  530 , 55 1 , 364 P . 3d 

8 1 0 (20 1 5) .  

3 .  D iscuss ion 

On appea l ,  Leonard asserts that the State's conceded interference with the 

Homer's test imony vio lated h is S ixth Amendment rig ht to confront those 

witnesses . 4 We d iscuss each witness in tu rn .  

a .  M s .  Horner 

As to Ms .  Horner ,  Leonard argues that the State's i nterference prevented 

her from testify ing at a l l ,  thus imp l icati ng h is S ixth Amendment rig ht . Leonard 

avers "Ms .  Horner fe lt anxious because [the State] had comprom ised her test imony 

on the record and she wou ld open herself to potent ial perj u ry charges on the 

stand . "  I ndeed , Ms .  Horner d id not testify, but th is c la im fa i ls for severa l reasons .  

F i rst, Leonard does not cite to anyth ing i n  the record to support the cla im 

that Ms .  Horner "fe lt anxious" because of the State's i nterference .  The court is not 

4 I n  h is rep ly brief, Leonard argues both that the tria l  cou rt's den ia l  of h is CrR 8 . 3(b) 
motion was error and , " [a]dd it iona l ly ,  separate from CrR 8 . 3 , "  that the State's 
m iscond uct "prejud iced h is [constitutiona l] rig ht to a fa i r  tria l . "  He d id not ,  however, 
in h is open ing brief ass ign error to the court's den ial of h is CrR 8 . 3(b) motion or 
substantively argue that the basis of h is constitutional  claim was a general ized 
rig ht to a fa i r  tria l ,  argu ing on ly that the m isconduct meant "he cou ld not 
mean ingfu l ly cross-exam ine or impeach either witness . "  To the extent they are 
stand-alone cla ims of error, we decl i ne to cons ider them because he ra ises both 
issues for the fi rst time on rep ly .  State v .  Pervez ,  1 5  Wn . App .  2d 265 , 272 , n .  1 1 ,  
478 P . 3d 1 03 (2020) . 
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requ i red to search the record to locate the portions re levant to a l it igant's 

arguments .  Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v.  Bosley. 1 1 8 Wn .2d 80 1 , 8 1 9 ,  828 

P .2d 549 ( 1 992) . The record , on the contrary ,  i nd icates that ne ither party was able 

to locate Ms. Horner before tria l .  And the State reported that M r. Horner advised 

that Ms. Horner feared reta l iat ion from Leonard . When Mr. Horner testified , he 

also exp la i ned that Ms. Horner was not present because she suffers from "cripp l i ng  

anxiety and depress ion" without any suggestion that the State's i nterference 

caused or exacerbated those cond it ions .  I n  other words ,  the record does not bear 

out the factual causal p red icate underlyi ng the cla im . 

Estab l ish ing th is factual p red icate is important because , second , Ms .  

Homer's absence a lone does not mean there was a constitutional  vio lation of 

Leonard 's  rig ht to cross-examine her because " [m]ore than the mere absence of 

test imony is necessary to estab l ish a vio lation of the rig ht [to cross-examine a 

State's witness] . "  Lizarraga , 1 9 1 Wn . App .  at 552 (quoti ng U n ited States v .  

Valenzuela-Berna l ,  458 U . S .  858 , 867 , 1 02 S .  Ct .  3440 ,  73 L .  Ed . 2d 1 1 93 ( 1 982)) . 

Th i rd ,  a lthough Leonard had the rig ht ,  though not abso lute ,  to compel Ms .  

Horner to testify ,  he d id not exercise i t .  kl Neither party at  tria l  requested a 

mater ial witness warrant . I nstead , Leonard argued he would request a m istria l  if 

tria l  conti n ued without Ms .  Homer's appearance , because the exist ing motions i n  

l im ine and  open ing statement were pred icated on being able to  cross-examine her . 

However, at tria l ,  Leonard d id not move for a m istria l  nor d id he ra ise a S ixth 

Amendment chal lenge of any k ind to Ms .  Homer's absence at any t ime (wh ich we 

wi l l  add ress fu rther below) . Therefore , he cannot ra ise the issue now because ,  

8 
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e . g . ,  " [t] he ava i lab i l ity of the S ixth Amendment compu lsory process clause ' is  

dependent ent i re ly on the defendant's i n it iative . "' Lizarraga , 1 9 1 Wn . App .  at  552 

(quoti ng Taylor v .  I l l i no is ,  484 U . S .  400 , 4 1 0 ,  1 08 S .  Ct. 646 , 98 L .  Ed . 2d 798 

( 1 988)) . 

Fourth , Leonard must show that the State's m isconduct wou ld have 

prevented h im from "mean i ngfu l ly cross-exam in i ng"  Ms .  Horner about her 

description of the i r  assa i lant ,  had she testified . Darden , 1 45 Wn .2d at 620 . A close 

read ing of the emai l  correspondence ,  however, shows that Ms. Horner remained 

consistent about her description of a wh ite sweatsh i rt i nstead of a g rey one ,  

besides acknowledg i ng once that "maybe" it cou ld be a d ifferent co lor . The record 

does not i nd icate that the State 's ,  conceded ly, improper suggestion Leonard wore 

a g rey sweatsh i rt wou ld have changed her test imony at tria l ,  if she had been 

present. Moreover, noth ing the record suggests that any effect on her test imony 

wou ld have prevented Leonard from mean ingfu l ly cross-exam in i ng her ,  let a lone 

establ ishes that the m iscond uct wou ld have affected the fi nal  verd ict aga inst 

Leonard . F isher, 1 65 Wn .2d at 747 .  

I n  short ,  we conclude Leonard has not met h i s  bu rden to show the State's 

m iscond uct caused Ms.  Homer's absence ,  prevented Leonard from mean ingfu l ly 

cross-exam in i ng th is witness , had he taken the i n it iative to compel her to testify, or  

otherwise affected the verd ict by such mere absence .  

b .  M r. Horner 

Aga i n ,  the State conceded below and concedes aga in  on appeal that M r. 

Horner-wh i le not a partic ipant of the emai l  exchange-became privy to the 

9 
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correspondence between the State and Ms .  Horner ,  thus potentia l ly i nterfering with 

h is test imony as wel l .  We accept the State's concess ion and assume the coup le 

d iscussed the State's improper suggestion about the co lor of the sweatsh i rt ,  and 

d iscussed the State's improper suggestion that two of its witness , at best, 

compared or ,  at worst, coord i nated the i r  test imony. From there ,  Leonard argues 

that th is "tampering"  v io lated h is rig ht to mean ingfu l ly cross-examine Mr. Homer's 

test imony. Th is c la im fa i ls for th ree overarch ing reasons ,  which requ i re add it ional 

factual backg round . 

At tria l ,  when the State examined Mr. Horner, it asked h im :  "Do you reca l l  

what description you gave as far as h is phys ical s ize and the l i ke?" M r. Horner 

gave the fo l lowing answer, which Leonard 's  counsel i nterrupted : "He was weari ng 

a l i ght -" . The court held a co l loquy outs ide the presence of the j u ry ,  d u ring which 

the State (a) represented she was "not going to go anywhere near the hood ie , "  (b) 

asserted that the "j u ry has a l ready heard the description he gave to the pol ice , "5 

and (c) wou ld on ly ask Mr. Horner if he gave a description to the pol ice i n  a "yes­

or-no fash ion . "  

Upon the j u ry's retu rn , the court instructed the j u ry to d isregard the part ia l 

answer. And the State fu rther questioned Mr. Horner ,  as fo l lows : 

Q .  (By the State) M r. Horner ,  d id a pol ice officer make contact with 
you to i nterview you about what happened? 
A. He d id ,  yes . 

Q .  And do you reca l l  g iv ing a description , at that t ime,  to the pol ice 

5 The officer (Fetterman) who took Mr. Homer's statement testified that M r. Horner 
described the cloth ing the gunman was weari ng to Officer Fetterman as i nc lud i ng 
" [a] l i ght -- or  l ig ht-g ray sweatsh i rt . "  Th is test imony was not cons istent with the 
handwritten statement, which described the sweatsh i rt as wh ite .  
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about the person that pointed the gun at you and your wife? 

A. Yes, I d id.  

Q .  Did you give a description of the type of clothing he was wearing? 

A. I d id,  yes. 

Based on these facts, Leonard now avers that "Mr. Horner could not be 

cross-examined about [1 ] his prior inconsistent statements and [2] his insinuation 

that his 'identification' matched Mr. Leonard." 

This argument fa ils, first, because both claims are simply factually 

inaccurate. As to the former cla im,  the State's examination was l imited to the 

questions reviewed above, but the court expressly permitted Leonard to impeach 

either of the Horne rs with the email correspondence between Ms. Horner and the 

State to remedy Leonard's CrR 8.3 motion. In  other words, Leonard could have 

e licited from Horner that his written statement described the sweatshirt as white. 

Leonard simply chose not to. 

As to the latter cla im,  Horner himself did not insinuate at trial that he 

described the hoodie (correctly) as grey on the date of the crime, thus "matching" 

that found on Leonard. In pertinent part, he testified that he provided "a 

description" to the police without going into any detail . 

To the extent the "insinuation" comes from Officer Fetterman's inaccurate 

testimony (that Mr. Horner described "a light - or l ight-gray sweatshirt"), Leonard 

could have cross examined Officer Fetter with Mr. Homer's written statement that 

described the sweatshirt as "white ." Leonard did not impeach Officer Fetterman in 
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that way, desp ite havi ng the opportun ity to do so .  6 

On the contrary-and as the second reason th is argument fa i ls-Leonard 's 

counsel on cross-examinat ion asked Mr. Horner: 

• if h is memory was "fresh" when he gave the handwritten sworn 
statement to law enforcement ,  to which Mr. Horner ag reed ; 

• if he knew that deta i ls i n  the statement "matter[ed]" because law 
enforcement wou ld re ly on h is statements there i n ,  to which Mr. 
Horner ag reed ; and sought to confi rm that 

• "any deta i l  that [he] m ight have remembered wou ld have made it i nto 
that statement , "  to which Mr. Horner ag reed . 

And , i n  clos ing argument ,  Leonard 's  counsel argued that the evidence showed it 

was a "a wh ite male in a wh ite hood ie" , referenc ing i nter a l ia  Officer Fetterman's 

test imony "that M r. Horner had to ld h im that the suspect was weari ng a wh ite or 

g ray hood ie" and Ms .  Homer's 9 1 1 ca l l  where she ind icated the assa i lant was 

weari ng "a wh ite hood ie" . 

I n  other words ,  desp ite the inconsistency of Officer Fetterman's test imony, 

Leonard 's  cross-examinat ion was focused on ly on d rivi ng home the re l iab i l ity of 

M r. Homer's statement. Regard less of why Leonard chose not to cross-examine 

Mr. Horner about the inconsistency between h is written statement and h is a l leged 

verbal statements to the pol ice or the prosecutor, Leonard had the opportun ity to 

mean ingfu l ly cross-exam ine Mr. Horner on al l re levant deta i ls of h is test imony i n  

such as  way as  to  test h is "perception ,  memory, and  cred ib i l ity . "  Darden , 1 45 

Wn .2d at 620 (quoti ng State v. Parris ,  98 Wn .2d 1 40 ,  1 44 ,  654 P .2d 77 ( 1 982) 

6 Leonard also d id not ass ign error to Officer Fetterman testify ing about the out-of­
court statements Mr. Horner made as inadm iss ib le hearsay. Therefore ,  we decl i ne 
to cons ider it .  
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(quoti ng U . S .  CONST. amend 6 ;  CONST. art .  I ,  § 22)) . Leonard chose a d ifferent 

route . 

Th i rd-and th is reason appl ies equa l ly to any chal lenge to the absence of 

Ms .  Homer's test imony-"a defendant [must] ra ise an object ion at tria l  or waive 

the rig ht of confrontation .  Requ i ring an object ion br ings th is cla im to a l i gn  with 

what we emp loy in other cases where we have held that some constitut ional rig hts 

may be waived by a fa i l u re to object . "  State v .  Bu rns ,  1 93 Wn .2d 1 90 ,  2 1 0- 1 1 ,  438 

P . 3d 1 1 83 (20 1 9) .  Here ,  ne ither i n  the co l loquy with the court reviewed above nor 

at any other t ime d id Leonard object on Sixth Amendment grounds to the court's 

remed ia l  measure that M r. Horner may on ly testify to the fact that he gave the 

pol ice a description at the scene .  Leonard a lso d id not object to the court's 

remed ia l  measure that perm itted Leonard to impeach h is test imony with those 

emai ls .  I nstead , per the record reviewed above , Leonard chose to take advantage 

of the evident iary l im itat ion p laced upon the State in cross-examination . Far from 

objecti ng , Leonard 's  counsel hammered home the d iscrepancy du ring h is clos ing 

argument ,  i n  response to wh ich the State was s i lent .  

For these reasons ,  we conclude that, even if the j u ry was left with some 

m is impress ion from the officer's test imony, Leonard chose not to correct the 

m is impress ion either by impeach ing the officer th rough the Mr. Homer's written 

statement or  s imp ly th rough Mr. Horner .  Therefore , Leonard has not met h is 

bu rden to prove that he ra ised th is chal lenge below or otherwise that h is rig ht to 

mean ingfu l ly cross-exam ine Mr. Horner was h i ndered . 

B .  Whether the Tria l  Court Shou ld Have Dism issed the Charges Because the 
State M ishand led D iscovery 
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Leonard contends that government m ismanagement resu lted i n  delays 

proceed ing to tria l .  He asserts that ,  pu rsuant to CrR 8 . 3(b) , h is convict ions must 

be reversed and the charges aga inst h im d ism issed d ue to th is m ismanagement. 

We d isag ree . 

1 .  Add it ional Factual Background 

Approximate ly two months before tria l ,  the State provided Leonard 's  

counsel its witness l ist . Then a few days before tria l ,  Leonard 's  counsel noticed 

that the State d id not provide some photos from the car crash scene as part of 

d iscovery,  and the photos may have been taken of re levant items such as the 

bandana ,  and other "cloth ing items . "  Leonard d id not rece ive these photos for the 

approximate ly e ight months when counsel was preparing for tria l .  The State 

exp la i ned it thought Leonard rece ived these photos , but it then promptly provided 

the photos Leonard requested . Leonard moved to d ism iss under CrR 8 . 3(b) 

because the de lay was "a pu re d iscovery vio lat ion . "  CrR 3 . 3  went unment ioned . 

The court conti n ued the tria l  to a l low Leonard the t ime to review th is newly 

prod uced evidence .  The court fu rther ordered that the late-d iscovered 

photog raphs be suppressed , u n less Leonard and on ly Leonard wanted to 

i ntrod uce them . I n  other words ,  the court proh ib ited the State from i ntroduc ing 

evidence i n  its possession that Leonard was unable to prepare to argue on the eve 

of tria l .  

2 .  D iscuss ion 

Leonard argues that the State's delays i n  provid ing the witness l ist and the 

photog raph ic  evidence forced h im to choose between h is rig ht to a speedy tria l  
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and h is rig ht to prepared counse l .  We d isagree because he fa i ls to articu late a 

cogn izable cla im for the re l ief he requests , i . e . , d ism issa l .  

Crim inal  Ru le 3 . 3  governs t ime-to-tria l  requ i rements i n  Wash i ngton . The 

ru le provides that when a charge is not brought to tria l  with i n  the t ime l im its set 

forth there in , that charge "shal l  be d ism issed with prejud ice . "  CrR 3 . 3(h) .  

However, and s ign ificantly, CrR 3 . 3(h) provides that " [n ]o case sha l l  be d ism issed 

for t ime-to-tria l  reasons except as expressly required by this rule, a statute, or the 

state or federal constitution . "  (Emphasis added . ) 7 Below and on appea l ,  Leonard 

d id not and does not identify ,  or  exp la i n ,  the vio lation of CrR 3 . 3 ,  any statute or the 

state or federal  constitut ion underlyi ng h is request for d ism issa l .  8 

I nstead , Leonard s imp ly makes repeated references to h is rig ht to a "speedy 

tria l  so h is counsel cou ld be prepared" and a generic " rig ht to a fa i r  tria l , "  without 

anywhere exp l icati ng how CrR 3 . 3 ,  any statute , or  a constitut ional p rovis ion was 

violated . Leonard does not assert a speedy tria l  cla im pu rsuant to either the S ixth 

Amendment to the U n ited States Constitution ,  or  art icle I ,  sect ion 22 of our  state 

constitution .  State v. Shemesh , 1 87 Wn . App .  1 36 ,  1 44 ,  347 P . 3d 1 096 (20 1 5) . 9 

7 Our  Supreme Court amended the t ime-for-tria l  ru le i n  2003 based on the 
recommendat ions of the Time-for-Tria l  Task Force . See State v. Kone ,  1 65 Wn . 
App .  420 , 435 , 266 P . 3d 9 1 6  (20 1 1 ) . 
8 " [T]h is proced u ral  rig ht is not se lf-executi ng and requ i res that a motion be fi led to 
exercise it i n  accordance with the procedu re out l i ned i n  the ru le . "  State v. Walker ,  
1 99 Wn .2d 796,  804 , 5 1 3 P . 3d 1 1 1  (2022) . Namely ,  u nder CrR 3 . 3(d) (3) , " [a] party 
who objects to the date set upon the g round that it is not with i n  the t ime l im its 
prescribed by th is ru le must, with i n  1 0  days after the notice is mai led or otherwise 
g iven ,  move that the court set a tria l  with i n  those time l im its . "  That d id not happen 
here and , as it was not ra ised by the parties , we decl i ne to add ress th is add it ional  
fa i l u re .  
9 Had he art icu lated a vio lation of h is Sixth Amendment rig ht to  a speedy tria l ,  we 
wou ld have undertaken a two-part i nqu i ry .  State v. I n iguez, 1 67 Wn .2d 273 , 283-
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Moreover, he nowhere asserts that he was either comp lete ly deprived of counse l ,  

see U n ited States v .  Cron ic ,  466 U . S .  648 ,  1 04 S .  Ct. 2039 , 80 L .  Ed . 2d 657 

( 1 984) , or  that h is counsel was i neffective . See Strickland v .  Wash i ngton ,  466 U . S .  

668 , 1 04 S .  Ct. 2052 , 8 0  L .  Ed . 2 d  674 ( 1 984) . 

Leonard 's  c la im of error is prem ised on CrR 8 . 3(b) . Th is ru le provides that 

" [t] he court ,  i n  the fu rtherance of just ice ,  after notice and hearing , may d ism iss any 

crim inal  p rosecut ion due to arb itrary act ion or governmenta l m isconduct when 

there has been prej ud ice to the rig hts of the accused which materia l ly affect the 

accused 's rig ht to a fa i r  tria l . "  CrR 8 . 3(b) . But ,  CrR 3 . 3(b) , we have held , "provides 

the exclus ive means to chal lenge a vio lation of the t ime-to-tria l  ru le . "  State v .  Kone ,  

1 65 Wn . App .  420 , 437, 266 P . 3d 9 1 6  (20 1 1 ) . 

It is add it iona l ly problematic that Leonard attempts to obta in  reversal of h is 

convictions and d ism issal of the charges aga inst h im by characteriz ing a cla im of 

error regard i ng tria l  delay as one of "government m ismanagement. " Even if he 

had asserted a CrR 3 . 3  vio lation , and undertaken the rig ht analyses , we have 

previously rejected the assert ion that d ism issal of charges was warranted for 

pu rported government m ismanagement prej ud ic ing a defendant's so-ca l led " rig ht 

to a speedy tria l "  pu rsuant to CrR 3 . 3 .  Kone ,  1 65 Wn . App .  at 435-37 . 

84 , 2 1 7 P . 3d 768 (2009) . F i rst, we wou ld have determ ined whether "the length of 
the de lay crossed a l i ne from ord i nary to presumptive ly prejud icia l . "  .!Q. If  such a 
l i ne was crossed , then we wou ld have appl ied the non-excl us ive ,  fou r-factor Barker 
balancing test to determ ine if a constitut ional vio lation occu rred . .!Q. Namely we 
wou ld have cons idered ( 1 ) the length of de lay, (2) the reason for the de lay, (3) the 
defendant's assert ion of the i r  rig ht ,  and (4) prejud ice to the defendant .  Barker v .  
Wingo , 407 U . S .  5 1 4 , 530 ,  92 S .  Ct. 2 1 82 ,  33 L .  Ed . 2d 1 0 1 ( 1 972) . No such 
analys is occu rred below or i n  Leonard 's  briefi ng on appea l .  
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F ina l ly ,  and te l l i ng ly ,  i n  support ,  Leonard cites i nter a l ia  to State v. Wh itney. 

96 Wn .2d 578 ,  580 , 637 P .2d 956 ( 1 98 1 ) ,  State v .  M ich ie l l i ,  1 32 Wn .2d 229 , 239-

240 ,  937 P .2d 587 ( 1 997) , and State v .  Sherman ,  59 Wn . App .  763, 769 , 801  P . 2d 

274 ( 1 990) . Th is jud ic ial authority is unava i l i ng  as it p receded our  Supreme Court's 

2003 amendments to CrR 3 . 3 .  This cou rt has rejected arguments re lyi ng on 

decis ional  authority preced ing the 2003 amendments to the ru le .  See , �. State 

v. Thomas , 1 46 Wn . App .  568,  576 , 1 9 1 P . 3d 9 1 3 (2008) . 1 0  

Thus ,  we reject Leonard 's  content ion that the court erred i n  denyi ng h is 

motion to d ism iss under CrR 8 . 3(b) because the p la in  language of CrR 3 . 3(h) 

"specifica l ly proh ib its d ism issal for t ime-to-tria l  reasons un less expressly requ i red" 

on g rounds Leonard nowhere art icu lates . Thomas, 1 46 Wn . App .  at 575. 

C .  Whether the State Comm itted M isconduct i n  Clos ing Argument 

1 .  Law 

" I n  the context of clos ing arguments , the prosecuting attorney has 'wide 

latitude i n  making arguments to the j u ry and prosecutors are a l lowed to d raw 

reasonable i nferences from the evidence . "' F isher, 1 65 Wn .2d at 747 (quoti ng 

State v .  Gregory, 1 58 Wn .2d 759 ,  860 ,  1 47 P . 3d 1 20 1  (2006) , overru led on other 

grounds by State v .  W. R . ,  J r. ,  1 8 1 Wn .2d 757,  760 , 336 P . 3d 1 1 34 (20 1 4)) . "We 

review al leged ly improper comments i n  the context of the enti re argument . " kl 

"References to evidence outs ide of the record and bald appeals to pass ion and 

prejud ice constitute m isconduct . "  kl 

1 0  Leonard also cites to State v. Brooks ,  1 49 Wn . App .  373 ,  386 , 203 P . 3d 397 
(2009) . We decl ine to fo l low Brooks because it re l ies l i kewise on jud ic ia l  authority 
pre-dati ng the 2003 amendments to CrR 3 . 3 .  
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"The burden rests on the defendant to show the prosecut ing attorney's 

conduct was both improper and prejud icia l . "  kl at 747 .  " If the defendant objected 

to the offend ing statement at tria l ,  he must estab l ish that the 'm iscond uct resu lted 

in prejud ice that had a substant ial l i ke l i hood of affect ing the j u ry's verd ict . "' State 

v. S later, 1 97 Wn .2d 660 , 68 1 , 486 P . 3d 873 (202 1 )  (quoti ng State v .  Emery. 1 74 

Wn .2d 74 1 , 760 , 278 P . 3d 653 (20 1 2)) . 

I n  S later, our  Supreme Court reviewed how federal  cou rts and our  state 

courts treat fl ig ht evidence to j ustify an i nference of a defendant's consciousness 

of gu i lt .  kl at 667 . Our  Supreme Cou rt approvi ng ly exp la i ned the fo l lowing th ree 

princ ip les and gu idance .  

F i rst, "wh i le fl ig ht evidence may be  cons idered by  the j u ry ,  t he  court must 

not instruct the j u ry that fl ig ht evidence is conclus ive proof of gu i lt . "  kl at 668 

(citi ng H ickory v .  U n ited States , 1 60 U . S .  408 , 420 , 1 6  S. Ct. 327, 40 L .  Ed . 474 

( 1 896)) (emphasis added) .  

Second , " [ i ]t is an accepted ru le that evidence of the fl ig ht of a person ,  

fo l lowing the comm ission of a crime ,  i s  adm iss ib le and may b e  considered by the 

j u ry as a c i rcumstance ,  along with other c i rcumstances of the case , i n  determ in ing 

gu i lt or  i nnocence . "  kl at 668 (quoti ng State v .  Bruton ,  66 Wn .2d 1 1 1 ,  1 1 2 ,  40 1 

P . 2d 340 ( 1 965)) . Fu rther, our  Supreme Court elaborated that that "accepted ru le" 

requ i res that: 

the c i rcumstance or i nference of flight must be substantial and real. 
It may not be specu lative , conjectu ra l ,  or fancifu l .  I n  other words ,  the 
evidence or c i rcumstances i ntrod uced and g iv ing r ise to the 
content ion of fl ig ht must be substant ial and sufficient to create a 
reasonable and substantive inference that the defendant's departu re 
from the scene of d ifficu lty was an insti nctive or impu ls ive react ion to 
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a consciousness of gu i lt or  was a de l iberate effort to evade arrest 
and prosecution .  

� at  668 (emphasis added) (some alterat ions i n  orig i nal) (quoti ng Bruton ,  
66 Wn .2d 1 1 2- 1 1 3) . 1 1  

Th i rd ,  ou r  Supreme Court approvi ng ly su rveyed cases that "op ined that 

fl ig ht evidence is adm iss ib le as evidence of consciousness of gu i lt i n  other cases . 

Examples i nc lude cases i n  which the defendant flees the scene of the crime ,  

escapes pol ice contact, trave ls to a d ifferent state , or  evades arrest for a s ign ificant 

period of t ime, among others . "  � at 669-70 .  Further , it cited a case hold ing that 

a fl ig ht instruct ion was proper when '"shortly after the robbery and prior to the arrest 

[pol ice and the vict im] spotted the defendant runn i ng a long the shou lder of the 

freeway. "'  � at 670 (a lterat ion i n  orig i nal) (q uoti ng State v .  N ichols ,  5 Wn . App .  

657 , 659 , 49 1 P . 2d 677 ( 1 97 1 )) . 

U lt imate ly, " [a] tria l  cou rt when faced with proposed fl ig ht evidence must 

decide whether or  not the al leged evidence amounts to fl ig ht that supports a 

consciousness of gu i lt inference. If it does amount to fl ig ht evidence that supports 

a consciousness of gu i lt i nference ,  the j udge may al low the evidence to be 

cons idered by the j u ry . "  � (emphasis added) .  

2 .  D iscuss ion 

1 1  This cou rt i n  Freeburg examined a F ifth C i rcu it decis ion that la id out a fou r-step 
test to examine the probative va lue of fl ig ht evidence :  "the deg ree of confidence 
with which fou r  i nferences can be d rawn : ( 1 ) from the defendant's behavior  to fl ig ht ; 
(2) from fl ig ht to consciousness of gu i lt ;  (3) from consciousness of gu i lt to 
consciousness of gu i lt concern ing the crime charged ; and (4) from consciousness 
of gu i lt concern ing the crime charged to actual gu i lt of the crime charged . "  State 
v. Freeburg .  1 05 Wn . App .  492 , 498 , 2 0  P . 3d 984 (200 1 )  (quoti ng U n ited States v .  
Myers ,  550  F . 2d 1 036 , 1 049 (5th C i r . 1 977)) . 
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Leonard argues that the State committed misconduct by making an 

unsupported inference of gui lt from the evidence he fled the scene. We disagree. 

In closing, the State argued: 

the defendant knew that he had to go. That vehicle had to flee 

because he knew he had just tried to rob two ladies trying to make a 
living selling cherries, that he held a gun to a fami ly, a husband and 
a wife and a child; and he knew that he needed to get out of that 

area, get out of dodge -

(Emphasis added). 

Leonard's trial counsel objected. After the court excused the jury, the court 

held a colloquy. 

Leonard's counsel argued: 

I'm very concerned that [the State] ,  repeatedly, is putting thoughts in 
Mr. Leonard's head, arguing facts not in evidence: "He knew he had 

to get out of there." I think the case law, the defendant was thinking 
to himself, and then, of course, the prosecutor makes up something 
sin ister, there's a line of cases, Walker, Glassman, Pierce, Jones, 

Bohning, Russell in regards to the facts not in evidence, but there's 
no facts in evidence of what he knew or thought. I think it crosses 
some lines. I 'd ask that the State be told to refra in from such 

information and that the jury being disregard -- or be asked to 
disregard it. 

(Emphasis added). 

The court overruled Leonard's objection, with a caveat: 

But when we start talking too much about what the defendant knew 
or didn't know, you're al lowed to make reasonable inferences; so I 'm 

going to overrule the objection at this time. But I wi l l  caution you to 
just be cognisant [sic] of your comments. 

When the jury returned, the State concluded its closing argument: 

the defendant who was extricated as the passenger in that vehicle, 
in fact, was fleeing from law enforcement because the defendant was 
involved in two armed robberies, although he did not get away with 
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any money, and because he assau lted a fam i ly with a fi rearm . The 
very fact of the fleeing is circumstantial evidence of his guilt. 

(Emphasis added) .  

We hold that these statements were not improper for the fo l lowing reasons .  

F i rst, consistent with the princ ip le e l ucidated by our  Supreme Court in 

S later, the court d id not a l low the State to say ( let a lone instruct the j u ry) that 

Leonard 's  fl ig ht was conclusive of gu i lt .  1 97 Wn .2d at 668 .  The State s imp ly 

i nd icated evidence was "ci rcumstantia l  evidence" of gu i lt .  

Second , we hold that the evidence of fl ig ht was "substant ia l and real"  and 

created a " reasonable and substantive i nference" that Leonard departed both d ue 

to an " i nsti nctive or impu ls ive react ion to a consciousness of gu i lt" and as part of 

"a de l iberate effort to evade arrest and prosecution . "  .!sl (quoting Bruton ,  66 Wn .2d 

1 1 2- 1 1 3) .  Here ,  the cherry stand attendants and then law enforcement testified to 

see ing Leonard run from the cherry stand immed iate ly after the robbery and then 

lead the pol ice i n  a dangerous h igh-speed chase for severa l m i les . 

I n  response , as h is counsel asserted below, Leonard argues that the record 

i ncludes no evidence of h is actual state of m i nd at the t ime of the robbery and 

ensu ing car chase . But ,  d i rect evidence of a defendant's state of m i nd is not the 

test . An i nference of consciousness of gu i lt is sufficient . S later, 1 97 Wn .2d at 670 . 

Here ,  the State d id not make a "bald" and unsupported assertion .  F isher ,  1 65 

Wn .2d at 747 .  On the contrary ,  on the facts presented above , the i nference here 

is reasonable ,  substantive and sufficient .  

F ina l ly ,  th is case is un l i ke i n  Bruton , where the defendants merely exited a 

store after being accused of shop l ifting , and then "walked up  the street . "  Bruton ,  
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66 Wn .2d at 1 1 3 . There ,  the State provided no test imony about the ci rcumstances 

of the i r  exit from the store . .!sl The fu l l  context of the facts presented at tria l  support 

the necessary i nference above and , thus ,  defeat Leonard 's  m isconduct cla im .  

D .  VPA 

Leonard argues in h is rep ly brief that we shou ld stri ke h is $500 Vict im 

Pena lty Assessment .  

Formerly, RCW 7 .68 . 035(1 ) (a) mandated a $500 VPA for a l l  ad u lts found 

gu i lty i n  superior cou rt of  a crime .  State v .  Mathers ,  1 93 Wn . App .  9 1 3 ,  9 1 8 ,  376 

P . 3d 1 1 63 (20 1 6) .  In 2023 ,  our  leg is latu re amended sect ion . 035 to state that 

" [t] he court sha l l  not impose the pena lty assessment under th is sect ion if the court 

fi nds that the defendant ,  at the t ime of sentencing , is ind igent as defi ned i n  RCW 

1 0 . 0 1  . 1 60(3) . "  LAWS OF 2023,  ch . 449 , § 1 ;  RCW 7 .68 . 035(4) . Th is change took 

effect on Ju ly 1 ,  2023 ,  but app l ies to Leonard because h is appeal was pend ing at 

the t ime. State v .  E l l i s ,  27 Wn . App .  2d 1 ,  1 6 , 530 P . 3d 1 048 (2023) (the 

leg is latu re's VPA amendment appl ied to the defendant because the case was sti l l  

on d i rect appeal) . 

Here ,  there is no d ispute that the tria l  cou rt found Leonard ind igent on J une 

29 ,  2020 or that the VPA was imposed prior to the 2023 amendments , and the 

State d id not oppose Leonard 's  request to stri ke the VPA at oral  argument or 

otherwise . Accord ing ly ,  we remand th is matter to the tria l  cou rt to stri ke the VPA. 
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I l l .  CONCLUS ION 

We affi rm the tria l  court bu t  remand solely to stri ke Leonard 's  VPA. 

WE CONCUR:  
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